1986

McCracken v. Downs : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

POINT I

The Trial Court erred in granting specific performance of the real estate contract because Plaintiff failed to perform a condition precedent found in the contract and because Plaintiff has not himself failed to discharge his obligations before seeking equitable relief.

POINT II

Plaintiff, at the time of the execution of the purchase agreement had no authority from co-tenants to sell the property, and, therefore, the contract was invalid.

POINT III

The parties, by their conduct, established a relationship as joint venturers.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A) Nature of the Case. This is an action by Plaintiffs upon a contract to purchase real property. The Plaintiffs seek damages, costs, attorney's fees and specific performance. The Defendants deny Plaintiffs' allegations and prayer for relief and allege affirmatively among other things that the Plaintiffs did not have the authority to enter into the agreement, and both parties failed to abide by the terms and conditions of the agreement Plaintiff seeks to enforce, when in fact the parties treated the real estate development as a joint venture.

B) Course of Proceedings. The matter was tried before the Honorable VeNoy Christoffersen without a jury.

C) Disposition in the Trial Court. The Trial Court ruled as follows:

(1) That the contract between the parties was binding and enforceable.

(2) The balance due on the contract was \$149,500.

(3) Any possible defect in title or the ability of Plaintiff, Mark McCracken to convey title because of defective power-of-attorney was cured by the execution, delivery of a warranty deed recorded 6 years after the date of the agreement.

(4) That Defendants were required to execute a past due promissory note and a trust deed to secure the promissory note as provided in the agreement.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Mark McCracken and the Defendants were acquaintances prior to the entry into the agreement which is the subject of this litigation and had had some prior business dealings with each other.

(TR 42) The parties commenced negotiations with each other concerning the property approximately six months prior to the date of the agreement. Although Plaintiffs failed to introduce evidence showing their title to the property, (TR 35 lines 16 - 20, TR 36 lines 2 - 11) Exhibit 1 recites that the owners of the property are Mark McCracken, Doris McCracken and Kedrick and Lila P. McCracken, and Exhibit 6 indicates that Kedrick McCracken and Lila P. McCracken each own an undivided one-fourth interest in the property.

On the 13th day of July, 1978, Kedrick McCracken and Lila P. McCracken conveyed their interest in the subject property to themselves in trust as "trustees" of the Kedrick McCracken Family Revocable Trust. The deed was recorded in Cache County on July 13, 1978. (See Ex. 6) (TR 15 line 18 - 25 sets forth the interest of Plaintiffs)

Plaintiff, Mark McCracken and Defendants by agreement selected Attorney Scott Barrett of Logan, Utah, to draw the agreement between the parties. (Ex. 1) (TR 20) Each party paid one-half of the attorney's fee. (TR 20) The parties testified that they each contributed to the provisions incorporated in the agreement. (TR 41) Mark McCracken indicated that he and Jerry Downs on separate occasions made changes to the agreement. (TR 41) McCracken read and understood the terms of the agreement. (TR 42) Further, Mark McCracken testified at TR page 42 as follows:

Q. And that each of the conditions that were contained in the contract were agreed to in the office and discussed between all of you?

A. Yes.

Jerry Downs essentially confirms this testimony. (TR 72) The agreement was prepared in draft form by Attorney Scott Barrett of Logan, Utah. (TR 12) However, it was not signed in his presence and he was unaware that the agreement had been signed or recorded. (TR 115)

After conveying their undivided one-half interest to themselves as trustees, Kedrick and Lila P. McCracken, as individuals, made and executed a special power of attorney to Mark McCracken

purportedly for the purpose of allowing him to sell their property. The contract was executed on the 19th day of October, 1978 by Mark McCracken in behalf of himself and as an attorney for Kedrick McCracken, Lila P. McCracken individually and Doris E. McCracken.

The contract provided as follows: (See a copy attached as an addendum hereto.)

1. A representation that Mark McCracken was the owner of the property.

2. That the seller agreed to sell the property with a nominal downpayment of \$500.00 and the balance to be paid in the form of a note secured by a deed of trust payable in full on the 1st of September, 1983.

3. Buyers shall be the developers and sub-dividers and the sellers shall have no part in nor control over the sub-division or sale of the lots.

4. Closing of this agreement by the sellers deeding the subject property to the buyers and buyers delivering their note and deed of trust to the sellers shall be on or before November 20, 1978 at the sole election of sellers. (Emphasis ours)

5. Buyers shall pay all sub-division costs.

6. Sellers agree to provide buyers with a policy of title insurance within ninety (90) days after the execution of the agreement.

7. The agreement constituted the entire agreement of the parties. (See addendum attached hereto.)

The agreement was recorded on the day it is dated October 19, 1978, in the office of the Recorder of Cache County, Utah.

On the date specified for closing (November 20, 1978) sellers failed to make an election to proceed with the contract and failed to deed the property to buyers. Buyers in turn failed to execute a note and trust deed to secure the balance due. (Mark McCracken's testimony TR 31, 32, 43) (Jerry Downs' testimony TR 85, 103, 18) (Scott Barrett's testimony TR 115, 118) Attorney Scott Barrett testified upon cross examination that he was never asked to nor did he prepare a deed to Greaves and Downs (TR 114), a promissory note or a trust deed (TR 114), nor did he receive from any of the parties an election that they wanted to proceed with the agreement. (TR 115) Barrett further testified that nothing in his file indicated that a policy of title insurance was ever ordered.

Barrett concedes that the transaction was never completed (TR 14) and that the parties thereafter operated under an arrangement different from the terms and conditions of the contract. (TR 118)

The parties sub-divided the property, not as seller and purchaser, but as joint participants in the management of the venture. (See Ex. 4) Mark McCracken executed the owner's dedication for himself, his mother Doris McCracken and his aunt and uncle, Kedrick McCracken and Lila McCracken. The improvements were made to the property by Greaves and Downs at their expense.

The first sub-divided lot was sold by the parties on the 21st day of August, 1980. (Ex. 8) By reason of the fact that the

property had not been deeded to Greaves and Downs, all parties jointly executed a warranty deed to purchaser Progressive Homes. Mark McCracken signed for himself and as an attorney-in-fact for his mother Doris and as an attorney-in-fact for Kedrick and Lila McCracken individually and as trustees.

On the 19th day of September three more lots were sold to Progressive Homes with Cecil Mark McCracken signing the deeds, for himself and as an attorney-in-fact for Doris McCracken, Kedrick McCracken and Lila P. McCracken. No mention was made of the status of Kedrick and Lila McCracken as trustees. (Although marketable title was not conveyed, no one questioned the fact.)

Checks in payment of the lots were made by Progressive Homes paying one-half to Cecil Mark McCracken directly and one-half to Greaves and Downs directly. (See Ex. 9 and 10) Upon cross examination Mark McCracken testified as follows:

Q. You just received the money didn't you?

A. I received the money. But I gave the lots for the money.

McCracken further testified on direct examination from his counsel as follows:

Q. What if anything did you do with respect to the sale of the lots?

A. I signed some papers to release the lots.

Q. Who presented these papers to you?

A. Jerry Downs.

Q. And, why did you do that?

A. So they could release the lots to sell them... had to be done to sell the lots.

Q. Did you obtain any benefit from that?

A. One-half of the sale of the lots that were sold.

On January 15, 1981, the Plaintiff Mark McCracken and the Defendants went into the office of Attorney Scott Barrett. Exactly which parties went in was not agreed upon by all parties at the trial. However, a note dated January 16, 1981, in Scott Barrett's office indicates that the purchase agreement was picked up in draft form and signed and recorded. (See Plaintiff's Ex. 11) Attorney Barrett testified and Exhibit 11 confirms his testimony and reveals that the transaction was never completed. (McCracken's testimony TR 31, 32, 43; Jerry Downs' testimony TR 85; Barrett's testimony TR 114, 115, 118)

Attorney Barrett explained to the parties that if Exhibit 1 was to be treated as a purchase agreement there should be an escrow account set up. The parties present stated to Attorney Barrett that they "preferred to leave the situation as it was and not have deeds exchange hands at that time and that whenever a lot was sold that the parties would all have to sign so there was no problem passing title in that way". (Third paragraph Ex. 11) McCracken confirms this testimony at TR page 62.

There were no further sales of lots from this tract of ground after January 15, 1981.

On April 23, 1984, 5½ years after the agreement was signed Kedrick McCracken, Lila McCracken and Doris E. McCracken conveyed their interest in the property to Mark Cecil McCracken by special warranty deed. (See Ex. 7)

The property described in the contract which was not subdivided was either farmed by Mark McCracken or was leased to another farmer by Mark McCracken. (TR 32) He retained all profits from the farming operations and paid the water taxes.

(TR 57)

The purchase agreement in paragraph 1 provides that upon the closing of the sale and McCracken deeding the property to the buyers, buyers were to deliver their note and mortgage to McCrackens. However, McCracken at page 33 of the transcript testifies as follows:

Q. Have you been at all times ready and able to deliver clear title to Messrs. Greaves and Downs upon payment of the remaining \$149,500.00?

A. Yes.

Q. And you are capable of doing that even now?

A. Yes.

At a post-judgment hearing to require the Defendants to execute a note and trust deed evidence was presented to the effect that McCracken had assigned his interest to Zions' First National Bank on the 10th day of March, 1982, and further had executed a trust deed encumbering the subject property in the amount of \$92,525.00 on the 27th day of March, 1984. (Ex. 13, 14)

The decree of the Trial Court entered on the 12th day of November, 1985, required the Defendants to execute a trust deed and mortgage that was due and payable on the 1st day of September, 1983, to enable Plaintiffs to have the foreclosure remedies provided by law.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

Point I.

1. The agreement entered into between the parties in 1978 contains a condition precedent which was never fulfilled by the Plaintiff who now seeks specific performance.

2. Plaintiff has failed to discharge his own obligations under the contract and did not come into the Court having himself done equity.

3. Plaintiffs' acts in mortgaging the property are inconsistent with his present claim of specific performance.

4. The Plaintiffs' 5½ year delay in the commencement of this action during which time there has been an approximate 50% devaluation in the land bars Plaintiff from seeking specific performance constitutes laches.

Point II.

Mark McCracken attempted to negotiate the contract for himself and three other persons. An undivided one-half of the interest in the property was held in a family trust agreement. The trustees of a trust cannot delegate the discretion vested in them to another person, and, therefore, Mark McCracken had no authority to represent all parties in the contract negotiations.

Point III.

The parties, by their conduct, established a relationship as joint venturers and as such the termination of the joint venture by the parties leaves each party with the ownership of the property they had prior to the venture and each having made a profit from the venture.

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SPECIFIC
PERFORMANCE OF THE REAL ESTATE CONTRACT.

A. The contract contained a condition precedent to be performed by McCrackens prior to seeking performance by Defendants.

Paragraph 3 of the agreement states as follows:

"The closing of this agreement by sellers deeding the subject property to the buyers and buyers delivering their note and trust deed to the sellers shall be on or before November 20, 1978 at the sole election of the sellers."

The contract was dated and recorded on the 19th day of October, 1978.

All parties' indicated that on the closing date of November 20, 1978, the seller McCracken made no election to proceed with the agreement. (See McCracken's Testimony TR 31, 32, and 46)

Therefore, the express condition precedent found in the contract was never fulfilled by the Plaintiff. The Trial Court in its findings found in paragraph 3 as follows:

"Although the contract requires that a note and trust deed would be executed by the buyers evidencing and securing the remaining unpaid balance due under the contract, no such note or trust deed was ever executed or delivered to plaintiffs and consequently no warranty deed was executed and delivered to the defendants conveying the property."

It is apparent that the Trial Court in viewing the matter found that the burden was upon the Defendants, Greaves and Downs to tender a note and trust deed, rather than following the clear import of the paragraph which states that the seller, McCracken shall have the sole election as to whether or not to proceed with the agreement.

On January 15, 1981, the Plaintiff and one or more of the Defendants met in Attorney Barrett's Office. Attorney Barrett advised the Defendants that if they were to have a binding sales agreement the agreement should be placed in escrow with a deed from McCracken to Greaves and Downs.

The parties stated that they preferred to leave the situation as it was and not exchange deeds yet and that upon the sale of any lot all parties were to convey the property. (See Ex. 11 and TR 116 - 118)

The testimony of the parties never attempted to vary the terms of the contract, and, therefore, the contract is not ambiguous. It is further evident from the testimony of the parties that Plaintiff was never willing to convey the property in order to get performance of the contract. Plaintiff, therefore, failed to tender performance under the condition precedent of the agreement and the agreement is therefore unenforceable.

In Kimball v. Campbell, Utah, 699 P.2d 714, (1985), this Court held that a contracts interpretation is a question of law where no extrinsic evidence of intent is introduced. By reason of the fact that the contract's interpretation is a question of law, this Court may review the Trial Court's action under a correctness standard. See Provo City Corp. v. Nielson Scott Co., Utah, 603 P.2d 803 (1974).

A review of paragraph 3 of the agreement shows that the seller, McCracken had the sole election given to him to proceed with the agreement. Having never made that election in writing or

by tendering a deed it is obvious that McCracken failed to perform the condition precedent. We must ask ourselves whether or not Defendants had a right to specific performance absent an election by the Plaintiff to proceed with the sale.

In Baxter v. Camelot Properties, Utah, 622 P.2d 808, (1981), this Court upheld the Trial Court's judgment denying Plaintiff specific performance allowing her to purchase a condominium unit by reason of the fact that Baxter failed to perform as required by the terms of her agreement. See also Huck v. Hayes, Utah 560 P.2d 1142, (1977), where this Court held that:

(I)t is fundamental that a party to a contract should obtain no advantage from the fact that he is himself unable to perform. Since the defendant has not come forth with the agreed title insurance policy demonstrating that he could convey a clear and marketable title as of the proposed closing date, March 8, 1974, he could neither demand payment by the plaintiff on that date, nor claim that the latter was in default for failing to make the payment.

See also Kiahtipes v. Mills, Utah, 649 P.2d 9 (1982). Branstetter v. Cox, Kansas, 496 P.2d 1345 (1972) and Bird v. Casa Royal West, Nevada, 624 P.2d 17 (1981) and Rubber, Inc. v. Jenkins, Colorado, 570 P.2d 1317 (1977).

McCracken testified that he did not rely on anyone else to complete the sale (TR 31), and, therefore, he is responsible for his compliance with the terms and agreements of the contract.

B. Further, the Plaintiff is not entitled to specific performance because he has failed to discharge his own obligations.

Plaintiff brought this action, not upon the promissory note and mortgage contemplated by the agreement, but upon his original

agreement which is an agreement to make a promissory note and mortgage upon his performance by delivering a deed at the time of the execution of the contract. He admits reading the contract and knowing its contents and further admits that he was capable of delivering a deed and title insurance but he failed to proceed further with the contract. (TR 42, 43, 46)

When asked in January of 1981 by Attorney Barrett if he wished to complete the contract as contemplated he indicated that he did not wish to convey the property at that time but wished to operate as they were doing on an informal basis.

The Plaintiff commenced this action seeking the equitable remedy of specific performance. However, Plaintiff had failed to discharge his own obligations prior to seeking such relief.

As indicated in paragraph A above the Plaintiff had failed to make the election under paragraph 3 to close the agreement. Further, Plaintiff failed to draw or have drawn the appropriate deeds, mortgages to complete the transaction. (TR 33, 46) In addition thereto the subsequent conduct of the Defendant violated paragraph 2 in retaining control over the subdivision and sale of the lots. (TR 24, 25, 52, 54) The Plaintiff also violated paragraph 6 of the agreement in failing to provide a policy of title insurance within 90 days after the execution of the agreement or at any other time. The fact of the matter is that the Plaintiff, after executing the contract of sale, encumbered the property to Zions First National Bank thereby making it impossible for clear title to pass to the Defendant. See Fischer

v. Johnson, Utah, 525 P.2d 45 (1974), Creer v. Thurman, Utah, 581 P.2d 149 (1978).

Each of these acts on the part of the Plaintiff is contrary to Plaintiff's obligation to discharge his obligations under the agreement.

Plaintiffs' Complaint seeks a money judgment and for declaratory relief requiring the Defendants to execute a note and trust deed to thereafter be foreclosed. The Trial Court concluded in December of 1985 that the contract was a binding contract and ordered the Defendants to execute a promissory note and trust deed with a due date of September 1, 1983, so that the same might be enforced by a Plaintiff, who prior to that time had failed to perform the agreement himself.

In Bradford v. Alvey & Sons, Utah, 621 P.2d 1240, (1980), this Court held that where a remedy is sought in equity, as a predicate to equitable relief "a party must exercise reasonable efforts to discharge his own obligations." Also Reed v. Alvey, Utah, 610 P.2d 1374 (1980). Wall Street Porperties v. Gossner, Oregon, 632 P.2d 1310 (1981).

Only after it was apparent that a severe devaluation in the property had occurred did the Defendant attempt to enforce the agreement. His performance at that time consisted of filing a complaint. He failed, even then, to tender a deed and title insurance.

C. Acts of Plaintiff are not consistent with the performance of the agreement. Mark McCracken attempted to assign his interest

in Exhibit 1 to Zions First National Bank on the 10th day of March, 1982, (See Ex. 13) and thereafter made a trust deed encumbering the land in question for the sum of \$92,525.00 on the 27th day of April, 1984. (Ex. 14) (Ex. 13, 14 were introduced at a post judgment hearing to require executing the note and trust deed by Defendants)

The act of attempting to assign the contract is inconsistent with his representation that he has the ability to convey good title. The act of mortgaging the property is inconsistent with his ability to give free and clear title, as shown by the policy of title insurance he was obligated to deliver. Each of these acts is consistent with his intention to retain title, ownership and control of the property as manifested in the office of Attorney Barrett. Each of these acts is a repudiation of the agreement and an act which bars Plaintiff from performance of the contract. These acts induced these Defendants into taking a position which is inconsistent with the Plaintiff's present claims. Fischer v. Johnson, Supra.

D. The contract is unenforceable by reason of the fact that the Plaintiff has delayed enforcement of the agreement to the disadvantage of the Plaintiff.

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