1986

McCracken v. Downs : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

1. Respondents have fully performed to the extent reasonably possible, under the contract, and specific performance is an appropriate remedy.

2. Appellants have improperly attempted to use evidence not presented at trial in support of their appeal.

3. Valid authority existed on the part of sellers to convey the property under the agreement.

4. The transaction and relationship between the parties was one of a purchase and sale contract not a joint venture.

STATEMENT OF ARGUMENTS

POINT I

RESPONDENTS HAVE FULLY PERFORMED TO THE EXTENT
REASONABLY POSSIBLE UNDER THE CONTRACT, AND
SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE IS AN APPROPRIATE REMEDY.

It is undisputed that the trial court sitting without a jury has jurisdiction to entertain equitable remedies. Allen v. Barnes 12 P 912 (Utah). The facts clearly establish that the parties intended to enter into a purchase and sale contract. The Sellers intended to sell the subject property and the Buyers intended to purchase the same.

Appellants totally ignore the fact that a precondition to Sellers' performance under the contract was Buyers' delivering their note and trust deed to the Sellers. There was certainly no point in Sellers deeding the property to Buyers if that would result in Sellers prejudicing or losing their security interest in the property. Certainly the Buyers had no reasonable expectation of receiving a deed or title insurance to the property absent delivery of the promissory note and trust deed. Significantly, Buyers sustained no prejudice and if anything obtained an advantage by their failure to deliver the note and trust deed. It is further significant that Buyers were the principals who initiated the transaction, and took the lead in

causing the documents to be prepared and established the he relationship with the title company in this matter. (TR 71-76) Appellant Downs testified that he knew who the owners of the property were and knew the status of title. (TR 71, 91) Indeed no evidence was ever presented at trial to suggest that the property was anything but free and clear since the date the contract was initially executed. Mr. McCracken testified that he was the owner of the property and the property was clear of liens. (TR 14-18, 49) It is also significant that the parties met in January of 1981 and acknowledged that the note, trust deed and warranty deed and title insurance had not been exchanged and all parties agreed that they would proceed under the existing circumstances and that the contract balance then owing of \$149,000.00 would be paid in accordance of the contract i.e. September 1, 1983. (TR 61, 106, Exhibit 11)

Under the circumstances the trial court had the option of either awarding monetary damages i.e. \$149,500.00 plus interest from the due date of September 1, 1983, or alternatively ordering an equitable remedy that would afford both parties the benefit of their bargain and the protections contemplated under the contract i.e. execution of the note and trust deed and foreclosure of the same. The Court in its discretion elected the latter remedy. Relief may be granted under circumstances where the party requesting such relief has exercised reasonable efforts to discharge his own obligation. See Bradford v. Alvey & Sons Utah 621 P2d 1240 (1980), see also Huck v. Hanes Utah 560 P2d 1142.

The evidence is clear that Respondents, even after the

meeting in 1981 with Attorney Barrett contacted Appellants on several occasions inquiring of the Buyers' ability to perform under the contract and make payment. On each occasion Sellers were assured that the contract would be honored, and on one occasion, Mr. McCracken was informed by Mr. Downs that the contract did not require payment until September 1, 1983, and he would have to wait until then. (TR 26-30, 66, 67) Respondents acted responsibly and promptly under all of the circumstances. Respondents caused no delay in the enforcement of the agreement and caused no disadvantage to Appellants. Indeed the cause of action for which the trial court ultimately granted relief did not arise until September 1, 1983, and could not under the terms of the contract. (Exhibit 1)

POINT II

APPELLANT HAS IMPROPERLY ATTEMPTED TO USE EVIDENCE NOT PRESENTED AT TRIAL IN SUPPORT OF THEIR APPEAL.

Appellants in their appeal brief suggest that the Court erred in judgment, and alledge that title to the subject property was at some time after the execution of the purchase and sale contract encumbered by acts of Respondent. In support of such allegation, Appellants rely upon exhibits indentified as 13 and 14. No such evidence, however, was ever introduced at trial and exhibits 13 and 14 have never been received in any of these proceedings, even after trial by the Court. Appellants entire argument suggesting wrong doing or adversely affecting the title to property by Respondents, is without any merit and can not be raised now having not been raised at trial.

"Matters not presented to the trial court may not be raised for the first time on appeal."

"The burden is on the parties to make certain that the record they compile will adequately preserve their arguments for review in the event of an appeal."
Franklin Financial v. New Empire Development Company 659 P2d. 1040 (Utah 1983), see also Duckett v. Olsen 699 P2d. 734 (Utah 1985).

POINT III

VALID AUTHORITY EXISTED ON THE PART OF SELLERS TO CONVEY THE PROPERTY UNDER THE AGREEMENT

Respondents agree with Appellants' statement that, generally speaking, a trustees' powers and duties can not be delegated to others. This does not mean, however, that ministerial duties, such as executing documents for the sale of trust property, can not be delegated to agents or attorneys. As stated in Meck v Behrens, 252 P. 91 (Wash), "It is undoubtedly the rule that, while a Trustee may delegate to someone else a purely ministerial duty, he may not delegate to another his discretionary powers.

The case of Dodge v. Stickney, 62 N.H. 330 (1882), is quoted in 50 A.L.R., 214, 216 as follows:

"It is, however, permissible for a Trustee to employ an agent to perform ministerial duties connected with the execution of a trust. If a Trustee can not in the exercise of due caution, employ agents, and rely on their judgment and honesty in the transaction of business matters pertaining to the Trust, without being held responsible for a successful issue in every instance, many estates would remain unsettled for want of sufficiently courageous Trustees. ... If it is reasonably necessary for a Trustee to employ agents or attorneys, and if he uses ordinary care in their selection and proper supervision over the business entrusted to them, he can not be held liable for his discretion resulting without fault on his part."

In the instant action, Kendrick and Lila McCracken as Trustees of the Kendrick and Lila McCracken Revocable Trust, properly delegated their ministerial duty to Mark McCracken to execute documents necessary for the sale of the property. Kendrick and Lila did not delegate any discretionary or supervisory powers to Mark McCracken over the Trust. Instead, they made a decision to sell a portion of the trust property and granted Mark McCracken power of attorney to complete the transaction after their decision.

In addition, assuming arguendo that Kendrick and Lila did not act as Trustees to sell trust property, any defect in the sale was cured by the subsequent special warranty deed (Exhibit 7) executed by Kendrick and Lila as individuals and as trustees to Mark McCracken. As provided in Section 57-1-10, Utah Code Annotated and recited below, such subsequent conveyance to Mark McCracken has the effect of transferring any interest he obtained thereby to ultimately Greaves and Downs as Purchasers of the property under the recorded contract.

Section 57-1-6 Utah Code regarding the necessity of recording notices of contract and interests in property, (which incidentally Appellants took advantage of) provides:

"Neither the fact that an instrument, recorded as herein provided, recites only a nominal consideration, nor the fact that the Grantee in such instrument is designated as Trustee, or that the conveyance otherwise purports to be in trust without naming the beneficiaries or stating the terms of the trust, shall operate to charge any third person with notice of the interest of any person or persons not named in such instrument or of the Grantor or Grantors; but the

Grantee may convey the fee or such lesser interest as was conveyed to him by such instrument free and clear of all claims not disclosed by the instrument or by an instrument as recorded as herein provided setting forth the names of the beneficiaries, specifying the interest claimed and describing the property charged with such interest."

Mr. Downs and Mr. McCracken both testified that it was Mr. Downs who suggested that a Power of Attorney be obtained to facilitate an expeditious closing of the transaction. (TR 19, 20, 71-74, 108, 112) Mr. Downs indicated that he knew that Lila and Kendrick McCracken owned and held interest in the subject property prior to entering into the contract, and he had solicited and obtained the services of the title company to assist him in completing the transaction and had reviewed this information with Attorney Barrett. (TR 71-76)

"The demands of this section [57-1-6] are answered if a party dealing with the land has information of a fact or facts that would put a prudent man upon inquiry and would, if pursued lead to actual knowledge of the state of the title." See Toland v. Corey Utah 24 P. 190.

Appellants are now estopped from asserting as an affirmative defense lack of authority to proceed when they in fact failed to exercise a prudent inquiry and had constructive notice of the circumstances of title and elected to proceed with the transaction.

Section 57-1-10 of the Utah Code provides as follows:

"If any person shall hereafter convey any real estate by conveyance purporting to convey the same in fee simple absolute, and shall not at the time of such conveyance have the legal estate in such real estate, but shall afterwards acquire the same, the legal estate subsequently acquired shall immediately pass to the Grantee, his heirs, successors or assigns, and such conveyance shall be as valid as if such legal estate had been in the Grantor at the time of the conveyance."

The potential conflict of title created by Kendrick and Lila McCracken's Quit Claim Deed in trust of July 1978 is cured by the subsequent special warranty deed (Exhibit 7) executed by Kendrick and Lila McCracken as individuals and trustees to Mark McCracken. The subsequent deed (Exhibit 7) itself evidences the original intent of the McCrackens which was to sell the property under the purchase agreement (Exhibit 1) and as a matter of equity, Respondents would have been estopped from selling the property contrary to the purchase agreement and the rights of the Appellants.

POINT IV

THE TRANSACTION AND RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE
PARTIES WAS ONE OF A PURCHASE AND SALE CONTRACT
NOT A JOINT VENTURE.

The Purchase Agreement identified as Exhibit 1 speaks for itself. The parties acknowledged that this is the only agreement which they entered into, and although it was not fully performed represents the contract they intended. (TR 71-76, 88, Exhibit 11)

"A construction giving an instrument a legal effect to accomplish its purpose will be adopted when it can reasonably be done, and between two possible constructions that will be adopted which establishes a valid contract. Schofield v. Z.C.M.I. 39 P2d 342 also Driggs v. Utah State 142 P2d 657.

The only reasonable interpretation of the document is that it is, as it is entitled: a purchase agreement and not an agreement of joint venture. The document clearly identifies the Respondents as "Sellers" and the Appellants as "Purchasers", and "Buyers". The document specifically provides that the "Buyers

are desirous of purchasing said property for development and subdivision and Sellers are agreeable to sell the same."

Paragraph 1 of the agreement provides that the "Sellers agree to purchase all of the property and that the Buyers agree to pay for the property in installments." Paragraph 2 of the agreement provides that it was expressly understood and agreed that the Buyers shall be the developers and subdividers and the Sellers shall have no part in nor control over the subdivision or sale of the lots. The only possible suggestion of a joint venture is the provisions of paragraph 1c of the agreement, which states as follows:

"Provided, further, that Buyers and Sellers agree that the Buyers are preparing a preliminary Plat for subdivision which will subdivide the property into Twenty-seven (27) lots and that the buyers will sell said lots at the best possible price. If, after all the lots have been sold, more than a gross sales price of Three hundred Sixty Thousand Dollars (\$360,000.00), less any real estate commissions, have been realized by the Buyers, then Sellers shall receive as additional compensation for the purchase and sale of their property, one-half (1/2) of all of the proceeds from the sale of said lots exceeding Three Hundred Sixty Thousand Dollars (\$360,000.00)."

Even these provisions, however, identify the parties as "Buyers" and "Sellers" and specify that any additional funds from the sale of property in excess of Three Hundred and Sixty Thousand Dollars (\$360,000.00) payable to the Sellers was to be identified "as additional compensation for the purchase and sale of their property."

Mark McCracken testified at trial that subparagraph "c" was included in the contract as consideration for the fact that no interest was charged for the five year term of payment of the

agreed contract price, and further that such an allowance was given as an accommodation to the purchasers to encourage a successful development and sale of the property and further in anticipation of property value increase and thereby obtaining a higher compensation for the purchase and sale of the property.
(TR 23)

The evidence is clear that both parties relied upon the contract and therefore are entitled to enforcement of the same. Appellants caused the contract to be acknowledged by a notary public in proper form and recorded and thereby asserted their claim in and to the subject property and have established a lien and recorded claim of interest against and to the property to the present time. Section 57-1-6 of the Utah Code provides:

"every instrument in writing setting forth an agreement to convey any real estate or whereby any real estate can be affected, to operate as notice to third person shall be proved or acknowledged and certified in the manner prescribed by this title and recorded in the office of the county in which the real estate is situated, but shall be valid and binding between the parties thereto without such proofs acknowledgment, certification of record, and as to all other persons who have had actual notice."

That the parties continued to treat the transaction as a purchase and sale of the property is further evidenced by Attorney Barrett's testimony and his memo to his Greaves and Downs file (Exhibit 11). As stated in paragraph 2 of Attorney Barrett's memo, the parties had "mutually agreed" that they were not in disagreement as to the provisions of the agreement or their actions thereunder and that they could proceed under the Purchase Agreement. The parties also were in agreement as to the remaining balance due under the agreement being \$149,500.00.

(emphasis added) It must be concluded there would be no "balance due under the agreement" if the agreement were treated as anything other than a purchase and sale of the property. There would be no balance due under a joint venture.

Attorney Barrett's memo also indicates that the parties preferred to "leave the situation as it is and not to have any deeds exchange hands yet! (emphasis added) It is quite apparent that the parties intended to transfer deeds as contemplated in the Purchase Agreement but that the transfer could take place at a later date. This further indicates that the parties continued to treat the transaction as a purchase and sale of the property even more than two years after signing the agreement.

At no time did any of the parties contemplate their transaction to be a joint venture agreement or anything other than a purchase agreement. (TR 88) Mr. McCracken testified that he had no authority to enter into a joint venture, only a sale contract (TR 34) The following considerations evidence that no joint venture was contemplated:

(a) The agreement was not for the purpose of making joint profit. The payments received by McCrackens from the sale of property were, as stated in the Purchase Agreement, payments on the purchase price and were made in a manner consistent with the contract. Once Respondents had received the purchase price of the property, Appellants would receive all remaining proceeds from the sale of remaining lots.

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